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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 

FOR THE SIXTH CIRCUIT 

 

GOLDEN LIVING CENTER – MOUNTAIN 

VIEW, 

 

 Petitioner, 

 

v. 

 

SECRETARY OF HEALTH AND HUMAN 

SERVICES; UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT 

OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES 

 

 Respondents. 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW 

FROM THE UNITED STATES 

DEPARTENT OF HEALTH 

AND HUMAN SERVICES  

 

BEFORE:  BOGGS, CLAY, and GIBBONS, Circuit Judges. 

JULIA SMITH GIBBONS, Circuit Judge.  Petitioner Golden Living Center – Mountain 

View (“Mountain View”) is a Tennessee skilled nursing facility (“SNF”) that participates in the 

federal Medicare and Medicaid programs.  As a participant in these programs, Mountain View is 

required to be in substantial compliance with federal requirements for such facilities.  Following 

an inspection of the facility in April 2014, when inspectors learned of an increase in patient falls 

in the Alzheimer’s Care Unit (“ACU”), Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) 

determined that Mountain View was not in substantial compliance with several regulatory 

requirements.  CMS imposed a civil monetary penalty (“CMP”) in the amount of $621,250.  An 

administrative law judge (“ALJ”) and the Departmental Appeals Board of the Department of 

Health and Human Services (“DAB”) both affirmed the administratively imposed penalties.   

Mountain View appeals the DAB decision, arguing that the imposition of the CMP was 

arbitrary and capricious because it did not have notice from the statute or regulations that CMS 
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would fine it for not considering adding additional staff.  While it seems likely that CMS may have 

gathered sufficient evidence to find that Mountain View was not in compliance with the 

regulations due to the increased falls that residents experienced without adequate intervention from 

the facility, the DAB’s decision rested exclusively on Mountain View’s failure to consider 

increasing its staffing.  Because the regulations that CMS cited did not provide notice to Mountain 

View that it must specifically consider increased staffing and review each patient’s care plan after 

every fall, we agree that CMS’s decision was arbitrary and capricious.  We reverse and remand to 

the DAB for proceedings consistent with this opinion.  

I. 

A. 

Mountain View is a skilled nursing facility in Tennessee that participates in the federal 

Medicare and Medicaid programs.  See 42 C.F.R. § 488.3 (as effective 2014).  As a skilled nursing 

facility, it is required to comply with 42 U.S.C. § 1395i-3 and 42 C.F.R. § 483, and it is surveyed 

periodically to assure compliance with federal regulations, see id. §§ 488.7; 488.20; 488.308.   

A state agency, with CMS authorization, surveys facilities and records instances of 

noncompliance known as deficiencies.  See id. § 488.404(b).  The surveyors note deficiencies and 

assign scope and severity levels, indicated by an alphabetic character A through L, ranging from 

the lowest, “no actual harm but has the potential for minimum harm,” to the highest, 

noncompliance that causes “immediate jeopardy to resident health or safety.”  (CA6 R. 16, Pet’r 

Am. App., ALJ Am. Decision, PageID 34 n.4.)  Immediate jeopardy occurs when noncompliance 

“has caused, or is likely to cause, serious injury, harm, impairment, or death to a resident.”  

42 C.F.R. § 488.301 (as effective 2014).  
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 If CMS finds that a facility’s noncompliance has placed residents in immediate jeopardy, 

CMS can impose a CMP ranging from $3,050 to $10,000 per day.  Id. § 488.438(a)(1)(i).  For 

deficiencies of lesser severity that caused harm or have the potential for more than minimal harm, 

CMS may impose a CMP ranging from $50 to $3,000 per day.  Id. § 488.438(a)(1)(ii).  

CMS mails a notice of its determination to the facility under 42 C.F.R. § 498.20(a)(1), and 

a nursing facility dissatisfied with an initial determination is entitled to a hearing before an ALJ 

under § 498.5(b) and § 488.408(g) if it files a request within 60 days of the determination.  Id. 

§§ 498.40(a)(2), 488.330(e)(3).  The request for a hearing must specify the findings of fact and 

legal conclusions with which the provider disagrees and the basis for those contentions.  Id. 

§ 498.40(b).  An ALJ, under § 488.438(e), may not reduce or set a penalty to zero or review CMS’s 

exercise of discretion in selecting a penalty if the ALJ finds there is a basis for imposing the 

penalty.  Id. § 498.60(c).   

An ALJ reviews de novo the legal and factual basis for the alleged regulatory 

noncompliance.  Life Care Ctr. of Bardstown v. Sec’y U.S. Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., 

2012 WL 5290709, No. 2479, *7 n.4 (DAB 2012) (“The ALJ review is de novo, and the ‘issue 

before the ALJ is “whether the evidence as it is developed before the ALJ” supports the finding of 

noncompliance, “not . . . how CMS evaluated the evidence as it stood at whatever point CMS made 

its assessment.”’” (quoting Sunbridge Care & Rehabilitation for Pembroke, No. 2170 (DAB 

2008))) aff’d 535 F. App’x 468 (6th Cir. 2013).  Additionally, “CMS’[s] determination as to the 

level of noncompliance of [a skilled nursing facility] [i.e. immediate jeopardy] . . . must be upheld 

unless it is clearly erroneous.”  Id. at *27.   

A facility dissatisfied with the hearing decision by the ALJ may request review by the DAB 

and may seek judicial review of the DAB’s decision by filing a request for review within 60 days 
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of the ALJ decision.  42 C.F.R.  §§ 498.5(c); 498.82.  The request for review “must specify the 

issues, the findings of fact or conclusions of law with which the party disagrees, and the basis for 

contending that the findings and conclusions are incorrect.”  Id. § 498.82(b).  Review is conducted 

by a panel of at least two members of the DAB, and the DAB may admit into the record additional 

evidence it believes relevant and material.  Id. § 498.86(a).  The DAB’s decision must be “based 

upon the evidence in the hearing record and any further evidence that the [DAB] receive[d] during 

its review” and must be “in writing and contain[] separate numbered findings of fact and 

conclusions of law.”  Id. § 498.88(f).  The DAB reviews factual issues to determine if the “ALJ 

decision is supported by substantial evidence in the record as a whole” and legal issues to 

determine if the “ALJ decision is erroneous.”  Avon Nursing Home, 2017 WL 7734852, No. 2830, 

*7 (DAB 2017).  A party dissatisfied with the DAB’s determination is then entitled to seek judicial 

review within 60 days.  42 C.F.R. § 498.5.   

B. 

The factual background of this case is nearly undisputed.  From March 31, 2014 through 

April 11, 2014, surveyors from the Tennessee State Survey Agency (“SSA”), pursuant to an 

agreement with CMS, conducted an annual recertification and extended survey of operations at 

Mountain View.  See id. § 488.10 (as effective in 2014).  The surveyors uncovered and observed 

numerous instances where Mountain View was not in substantial compliance with federal 

regulations.  Specifically, the surveyors determined that Mountain View’s noncompliance with 

seven regulations (noted under six F-Tags) posed immediate jeopardy.  These violations included: 

“42 C.F.R. §§ 483.20(d)(3) and 483.10(k)(2) [“F280”] (care plans); 483.25(h) [“F323”] 

(accident hazards); 483.30(a) [“F353”] (adequate staffing); 483.75 [“F490”] (administration); 

483.75(i) [“F501”] (medical director); and 483.75(o)(1) [“F520”] (Quality Assurance 
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Committee).”  (AR 278, Vol. 1., Joint Stipulations.)1  The surveyors also noted other deficiencies 

at lower severity levels, but these deficiencies were not challenged by Mountain View.   

The basis for all of the deficiencies posing immediate jeopardy was numerous unwitnessed 

falls, over forty during a period of four months, by five residents of Mountain View’s Alzheimer’s 

Care Unit (“ACU”).  Mountain View has a specially licensed ACU that houses between thirty to 

thirty-five residents diagnosed with Alzheimer’s disease or other cognitive disorders who are “able 

to pivot during transfer and be ambulatory, but may use a walker, wheelchair, or other assistive 

devices.”  (CA6 R. 15, Pet’r Am. App., ALJ Decision, PageID 40.)  Each resident was determined 

to be at a high risk for falls due to various mental and physical ailments.  These falls caused injuries, 

requiring emergency medical evaluation or first aid.  The surveyors concluded that the repeated, 

unwitnessed falls placed these five residents in immediate jeopardy.  

CMS notified Mountain View of the deficiencies on April 23, 2014.  CMS imposed an 

initial civil monetary penalty (“CMP”) on Mountain View in the amount of $5,800 per day, 

effective January 13, 2014, until the facility achieved substantial compliance. 

 Subsequently, on May 1, 2014, the Tennessee SSA conducted a revisit survey to determine 

whether Mountain View had achieved substantial compliance.  The surveyors concluded that 

Mountain View was still not in substantial compliance, but also noted these deficiencies no longer 

posed immediate jeopardy to its residents.  CMS modified the CMP to accrue at a rate of $150 per 

day, effective April 29, 2014, until CMS determined the facility was in substantial compliance.  

Tennessee SSA conducted a second revisit survey on June 11, 2014 and found that Mountain View 

had returned to substantial compliance.  CMS imposed a total CMP of $621,250; CMS first applied 

 
1 Both CMS and the ALJ incorrectly cited the regulatory violation as § 483.20(d)(3) instead of § 483.10(d)(3), and 

§ 483.10(k)(2) instead of § 483.20(k)(2).  The DAB noted and corrected this error.   
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